1991

James N. Fowler and Sherril Fowler v. Terry R. Seiter : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION AND NATURE OF PROCEEDING

The Supreme Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 78-2-2(3)(j) UCA (1989).

The nature of the proceeding is an appeal from a final order and a final judgment of the District Court deciding that treble damages should not be awarded.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

The issues presented by the appeal are whether or not treble damages should be awarded pursuant to the Forcible Entry and Detainer statute. The standard of review is the refusal of the trial court to give effect to the waiver of objection to insufficiency of process provided in Rules 12(b) and (h) URCP.

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, ORDINANCES, RULES AND REGULATIONS

Utah Code Annotated, 38-8-3 SELF-SERVICE STORAGE FACILITIES:

38-8-3. Enforcement of lien - Notice requirements - Sale procedure and effect.

A claim of an owner which has become due against an occupant and which is secured by the owner's lien may be satisfied as follows:

(1) No enforcement action may be taken by the owner until the occupant has been in default continuously for a period of 30 days.

(2) After the occupant has been in default continuously for a period of 30 days, the owner may begin enforcement action if the occupant has been given notice in writing. The notice shall be delivered in person or sent by certified mail to the last known address of the occupant, and a copy of the notice shall, at the same time, be sent to the sheriff of the county where the self-service storage facility is located. Any lien holder with an interest in the property to be sold or otherwise disposed of, of whom the owner has knowledge either through the disclosure provision on the rental agreement or through the existence of a validly filed and perfected UCC-1 financing statement with the Division of Corporations and Commercial Code, or through other written notification, shall be included in the notice process as set forth in this section.

(3) This notice shall include:

(a) an itemized statement of the owner's claim showing the sum due at the time of the notice and

the date when the sum became due;

(b) a brief and general description of the personal property subject to the lien, which description shall be reasonably adequate to permit the person notified to identify the property; except that any container including, but not limited to, a trunk, valise, or box that is locked, fastened, sealed, or tied in a manner which deters immediate access to its contents may be described as such without describing its contents;

(c) a notification of denial of access to the personal property, if such denial is permitted under the terms of the rental agreement, which notification shall provide the name, street address, and telephone number of the owner or his designated agent whom the occupant may contact to respond to the notification;

(d) a demand for payment within a specified time not less than 15 days after delivery of the notice; and

(e) a conspicuous statement that, unless the claim is paid within the time stated in the notice, the personal property will be advertised for sale or other disposition and will be sold or otherwise disposed of at a specified time and place.

(4) Any notice made under this section shall be presumed delivered when it is deposited with the United States postal service and properly addressed with postage prepaid.

(5) (a) After the expiration of the time given in the notice, an advertisement of the sale or other disposition shall be published once a week for two consecutive weeks in a newspaper of general circulation in the county where the self-service storage facility is located. The advertisement shall include:

(i) a brief and general description of the personal property reasonably adequate to permit its identification as provided for in Subsection (3)(b); the address of the self-service storage facility and the number, if any, of the space where the personal property is located; and the name of the occupant and his last known address; and

(ii) the time, place, and manner of the sale or other disposition shall take place not sooner than 15 days after the first publication.

(b) If there is no newspaper of general circulation in the county where the self-service storage facility is located, the

advertisement shall be posted at least ten days before the date of the sale or other disposition in not less than six conspicuous places in the neighborhood where the self-service storage facility is located.

(6) Any sale or other disposition of the personal property shall conform to the terms of the notice provided for in this section.

(7) Any sale or other disposition of the personal property shall be held at the self-service storage facility or at the nearest suitable place to where the personal property is held or stored.

(8) Before any sale or other disposition of personal property under this section, the occupant may pay the amount necessary to satisfy the lien and the reasonable expenses incurred under this section and thereby redeem the personal property; upon receipt of this payment, the owner shall return the personal property, and thereafter the owner shall have no liability to any person with respect to that personal property.

(9) A purchaser in good faith of the personal property sold to satisfy a lien as provided for in this chapter takes the property free of any rights of persons against whom the lien was valid and free of any rights of a secured creditor, despite noncompliance by the owner with the requirements of this section.

(10) In the event of a sale under this section, the owner may satisfy his lien for the proceeds of the sale, subject to the rights of any prior lienholder; the lien rights of the prior lienholder are automatically transferred to the proceeds of the sale; if the sale is made in good faith and is conducted in a reasonable manner, the owner shall not be subject to any surcharge for a deficiency in the amount of a prior secured lien, but shall hold the balance, if any, for delivery to the occupant, lienholder, or other person in interest; if the occupant, lienholder, or other person in interest does not claim the balance of the proceeds within one year of the date of sale, it shall become the property of the Utah state treasurer as unclaimed property with no further claim against the owner.

(11) If the requirements of this chapter are not satisfied, if the sale of the personal property is not in conformity with the notice of sale, or if there is a willful violation of this chapter, nothing in this section affects the rights and liabilities of the owner, occupant, or any other person.

Utah Code Annotated, 78-2-2(3)(j) Supreme Court jurisdiction:

78-2-2. Supreme Court jurisdiction.

(3) The Supreme Court has appellate jurisdiction, including jurisdiction of interlocutory appeals, over:

(j) orders, judgments, and decrees of any court of record over which the Court of Appeals does not have original appellate jurisdiction.

Utah Code Annotated, 78-36-1 Forcible Entry and Detainer:

78-36-1. "Forcible entry" defined.

Every person is guilty of a forcible entry, who either:

(1) by breaking open doors, windows or other parts of a house, or by fraud, intimidation or stealth, or by and kind of violence or circumstances of terror, enters upon or into real property, . . .

Utah Code Annotated, 78-36-8 Forcible Entry and Detainer:

78-36-8. Allegations permitted in complaint - Time for appearance - Service of summons.

The plaintiff in his complaint, in addition to setting forth the facts on which he seeks to recover, may set forth any circumstances of fraud, force, or violence which may have accompanied the alleged forcible entry, or forcible or unlawful detainer, and claim damages therefor or compensation for the occupation of the premises, or both. If the unlawful detainer charged is after default in the payment of rent, the complaint shall state the amount of rent due. The court shall indorse on the summons the number of days within which the defendant is required to appear and defend the action, which shall not be less than three or more than 20 days from the date of service. The court may authorize service by publication or mail for cause shown. Service by publication is complete one week after publication. Service by mail is complete three days after mailing. The summons shall be changed in form to conform to the time of service as ordered, and shall be served as in other cases.

Utah Code Annotated, 78-36-10 Forcible Entry and Detainer:

78-36-10. Judgment for restitution, damages, and rent - Immediate enforcement - Treble damages.

(1) A judgment may be entered upon the merits or upon default. A judgment entered in favor of the plaintiff shall include an order for the restitution of the premises. If the proceeding is for unlawful detainer after neglect or failure to perform any condition or covenant of the lease or agreement under which the property is held, or after default in the payment of rent, the judgment shall also declare the forfeiture of the lease or agreement.

(2) The jury or the court, if the proceeding is tried without a jury or upon the defendant's default, shall also assess the damages resulting to the plaintiff from any of the following:

- (a) forcible entry;
- (b) forcible or unlawful detainer;
- (c) waste of the premises during the defendant's tenancy, if waste is alleged in the complaint and proved at trial; and
- (d) the amount of rent due, if the alleged unlawful detainer is after default in the payment of rent.

(3) The judgment shall be entered against the defendant for the rent, for three times the amount of the damages assessed under Subsection (2)(a) through (2)(c), and for reasonable attorney's fees, if they are provided for in the lease or agreement.

(4) If the proceeding is for unlawful detainer after default in the payment of the rent, execution upon the judgment shall be issued immediately after the entry of the judgment. In all cases, the judgment may be issued and enforced immediately. (Emphasis added).

Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 1:

Rule 1. General provisions.

(a) **Scope of rules.** These rules shall govern the procedure in the Supreme Court, the district courts, the circuit courts, and the justice courts of the state of Utah in all actions, suits, and proceedings of a civil nature, whether cognizable at law or in equity, and in all special statutory proceedings, except as governed by other rules promulgated by this court or enacted by the Legislature and except as stated in Rule 81. They shall be liberally construed to secure the just, speedy, and inexpensive determination of every action.

(b) **Effective date.** These rules shall take effect on January 1, 1950; and thereafter all laws in conflict therewith shall be of no further force or effect. They govern all proceedings in actions brought after they take effect and also all further proceedings in actions then pending, except to the extent that in the opinion of the court their application in a particular action pending when the rules take effect would not be feasible or would work injustice, in which event the former procedure applies.

Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 12(b) and (h):

Rule 12. Defenses and Objections

(b) **How presented.** Every defense, in law or fact, to claim for relief in any pleading, whether a claim, counterclaim, cross-claim, or third-party claim, shall be asserted in the responsive pleading thereto if one is

required, except that the following defenses may at the option of the pleader be made by motion: (1) lack of jurisdiction over the subject matter, (2) lack of jurisdiction over the person, (3) improper venue, (4) insufficiency of process, (5) insufficiency of service of process, (6) failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, (7) failure to join an indispensable party. A motion making any of these defenses shall be made before pleading if a further pleading is permitted. No defense or objection is waived by being joined with one or more other defenses or objections in a responsive pleading or motion or by further pleadings after the denial of such motion or objection. If a pleading sets forth a claim for relief to which the adverse party is not required to serve a responsive pleading, he may assert at the trial any defense in law or fact to that claim for relief. If, on a motion asserting the defense numbered (6) to dismiss for failure of the pleading to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, matters outside the pleading are presented to and not excluded by the court, the motion shall be treated as one for summary judgment and disposed of as provided in Rule 56, and all parties shall be given reasonable opportunity to present all material made pertinent to such a motion by Rule 56.

(h) **Waiver of defenses.** A party waives all defenses and objections which he does not present either by motion as hereinbefore provided or, if he has made no motion, in his answer or reply, except (1) that the defense of failure to join an indispensable party, and the objection of failure to state a legal defense to a claim may also be made by a later pleading, if one is permitted, or by motion for judgment on the pleadings or at the trial on the merits, and except (2) that, whenever it appears by suggestion of the parties or otherwise that the court lacks jurisdiction of the subject matter, the court shall dismiss the action. The objection or defense, if made at the trial, shall be disposed of as provided in Rule 15(b) in the light of any evidence that may have been received. (Emphasis added).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Defendant owned a storage unit which he rented to Plaintiffs. Plaintiffs stored furniture and equipment in the unit and placed a lock thereon. Defendant, without authority from Plaintiffs, broke the lock and sold the contents to a third party. Plaintiffs brought an action to recover the items or, in lieu

thereof, to recover damages and later amended the complaint alleging, among other claims, a claim for Forcible Entry and Detainer. Defendant answered, generally denying Plaintiffs' allegations. Defendant failed to allege any defense based on insufficiency of process. The jury by special verdict determined Plaintiffs' damages to be \$7,000. Plaintiffs moved to have the damages trebled pursuant to the Forcible Entry and Detainer statute. The court ruled that Plaintiffs were not entitled to treble damages because Plaintiffs did not have an endorsement by the court upon the summons stating the number of days within which the Defendant shall be required to appear and defend the action, which shall not be less than three or more than twenty days from date of service, as provided by 78-36-8 UCA 1953 and therefor the action cannot be deemed to be an action under the Forcible Entry and Detainer statute.

Plaintiffs assert that under Rule 12(b) and (h) that insufficiency of process is an affirmative defense which was waived by the Defendant by failure to assert that defense. The issue for review is whether or not the court erred in ruling that the Defendant had not waived his right to assert the insufficiency of process pursuant to Rule 12(b) and (h) and in ruling that the \$7,000 verdict should not be trebled.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiffs stored household furnishings in a storage unit owned by Defendant. Defendant admitted in paragraph 15 of his answer:

Defendants removed or caused to be removed all of Plaintiffs' property that was stored in the storage unit without any notice or claim under the provisions of Exhibit A or as required by the Utah Self Storage Facilities Act . . . as then in effect.

The jury in a special verdict determined that Plaintiffs' damage from the unlawful entry was in the amount of \$7,000 based upon the value of the items taken by Defendant. The court refused to treble that amount upon the premise that in order to have an unlawful detainer action, there must be an endorsement upon the summons setting forth the time for answer, which had not been done.

The original complaint was not one in unlawful detainer. The complaint alleged negligence, breach of contract, breach of warranty and breach of fiduciary duty. Defendant was served with a usual twenty-day summons. Defendant failed to answer and a default judgment was entered. Defendant then moved to set aside the default judgment on the grounds of excusable neglect. The judgment was set aside. Plaintiffs then amended their complaint to add several causes of action including an action in forcible entry seeking treble damages (paragraph 28 of the amended complaint). Defendant simply denied said allegations (paragraph 25 of his answer). Defendant, by his answer, raised no issue as to the sufficiency of process.

Plaintiffs asserted that by failing to present the defense of insufficiency of process either by motion or in his answer he had waived said defense as provided in Rule 12(b) and (h) URCP. The court refused to so rule.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

78-36-10 UCA provides that judgment shall be entered against the Defendant for three times the amount of damages assessed by the jury in the event of unlawful entry. The entry was unlawful. It violated the terms of the storage agreement and of the Utah Self Storage Facilities Act because the entry was without notice and because of the violence in cutting the lock to gain entry.

The forcible entry and detainer statute applies to commercial buildings as well as to residences.

The damages resulting from forcible entry include the value of household goods and personal effects removed.

Trebling is mandatory.

Defendant failed to set forth any objection to the sufficiency of process by motion or in his answer. By failing to do so and by going to trial, he has waived that defense pursuant to Rules 12(b) and (h) URCP.

ARGUMENT

Unlawful Entry

Defendant admitted in paragraph 15 of his answer that he entered Plaintiffs' storage unit and removed their possessions without any required notice. He stated:

Defendants removed or caused to be removed all of Plaintiffs' property that was stored in the storage unit without any notice or claim under the provisions of Exhibit A or as required by the Utah Self Storage Facilities Act . . . as then in effect.

The Exhibit "A" referred to above with which Defendant admits he did not comply is the rental agreement, Plaintiffs' Exhibit 1. It provides when the Defendant may remove the lock. It states:

Occupant or Owner may terminate the Occupancy created by this Rental Agreement by delivering written notice to the other party of its intention to do so at least 15 days prior to the last day of the calendar month in which Occupancy will terminate. Any property left in the Storage Space after the date for which Occupant (sic) has given notice to terminate will be deemed abandoned by the Occupant. After said date, Owner may remove any lock from the Storage Space and dispose of the contents thereof without notice or liability to the Occupant.

Defendants therefore violated the provisions of the rental agreement, as well as the provisions of the Self Storage Act.

The court recognized the wrongful entry in its Instruction Number 16, which states:

Defendant's acts in cutting or causing to be cut Plaintiffs' lock on the door and removing all items of personal property of Plaintiffs were wrongful.

Forcible Entry

The acts of Defendant in cutting Plaintiffs' lock and entering their storage unit constituted forcible entry. 78-36-1 defines forcible entry as follows:

Every person is guilty of a forcible entry, who either:
(1) by breaking open doors, windows or other parts of a house, or by fraud, intimidation or stealth, or by any kind of violence or circumstances of terror, enters upon or into any real property; . . .

Violence

In Buchanan v. Crites, 150 P.2d 100, 103, 104, (Utah 1944) the Utah Court, in considering an action for damages, construed the forcible entry provision. The court stated:

Under our statute any entry by force is prohibited. Being prohibited, such entry was wrongful and the aggrieved party has his remedy. The Forcible Entry Statute expressed a policy that no person should enter by force, stealth, fraud or intimidation, premises of which another had peaceable possession. . .

It is contended by the appellant that this was not an entry by "force" within the meaning of the statute. The Utah Act was copied from the California Code of Civil Procedure, Section 1159. In Winchester v. Becker, 4 Cal.App. 382, 88 P. 296, 297, the defendant had entered the premises by means of a key on two different occasions while the plaintiff was absent. The court, construing the California Act, stated in holding that there had been a forcible entry:

"The question is presented whether the defendant's entry made in the manner stated comes within the provisions of the first subdivision of section 1159 of the Code of Civil Procedure, by which every person is to be held to be guilty of a forcible entry who 'by breaking open doors, windows, or other parts of a house * * * enters upon or into any real property.' This question we think must be answered in the affirmative. The meaning of the provision is that any * * * force is to be regarded as 'breaking open' the door or window or house. This was the construction given to the term 'break' as entering into the common-law definition of burglary, and we see no reason why a different construction should be given to it in the provision now under consideration."

Here it is alleged that the defendant entered upon the premises in plaintiff's absence by unlocking the doors and removing the doors from their hinges. Under the authorities construing acts similar to the Utah Act, and under the acts similar to the Utah Act, and under the Utah statutes making it a forcible entry to enter by stealth, these facts sufficiently show a forcible entry.

In discussing the requisite force in order to come under the Forcible Entry Statutes, it is stated in 21 Proof of Facts 2d § 607:

Forcible entry is that made with actual physical force directed against the premises. . .

21 POF 2d § 607 ¶ 2

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