1991

# James N. and Sherril Fowler v. Terry R. Seiter : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

## JURISDICTION

The Utah Supreme Court has jurisdiction of this case pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2 (3)(j) (1959, as amended).

## NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

This is an appeal after a full jury trial conducted before the Honorable Judge John A. Rokich of the Third Judicial District Court of Salt Lake County, State of Utah, in Civil No. 880906180CV. The Order denying Plaintiff's request for treble damages was entered on July 2, 1991. The Notice of Appeal was filed on August 1, 1991.

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether a Plaintiff who fails to comply with the requirements of Utah Code Ann. §§ 78-36-1 to -12.6 (1953, as amended), Utah's Forcible Entry and Detainer Statute, is entitled to an award of treble damages.

2. Whether the failure of a Plaintiff to have a Summons endorsed by the court as required by Utah Code Ann. § 78-36-8 (1953, as amended) constitutes insufficiency of process as contemplated by Rule 12(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Appellee's argument is summarized as follows:

1. Utah Code Ann. § 78-36-8 (1953, as amended) requires that the court shall endorse on a Summons, in a forcible entry case, the number of days within which the Defendant is required to appear and defend the action. Failure by the Plaintiff to obtain such an endorsement by the court on the

Summons prevents the Plaintiff from being awarded treble damages.

2. Insufficiency of service of process contemplated by Rule 12(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure does not include the requirement that a Summons be endorsed by the court as required by Utah Code Ann. § 78-36-8 (1953, as amended).

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. On September 22, 1988, Plaintiff's filed their Complaint in the above entitled matter. The Complaint did not state a cause of action for forcible entry nor did the prayer of the Complaint request that any damages awarded be treble. (Plaintiffs' Complaint)<sup>1</sup>

2. On or about September 29, 1988, Defendant/Appellee, Terry R. Seiter was served with a Summons and Complaint in this matter. The Summons had not been endorsed by the court as to the number of days in which Defendant/Appellee, Terry R. Seiter, would be required to appear and defend the action as required by Utah Code Ann. § 78-36-8 (1953, as amended). (Summons)

3. On or about January 4, 1990, Plaintiffs filed an Amended Complaint which included a cause of action for forcible entry and sought treble damages. (Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint)

#### ARGUMENT

I. PLAINTIFF'S HAVING FAILED TO COMPLY WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF UTAH" FORCIBLE ENTRY AND DETAINER STATUTE ARE NOT ENTITLED TO AN AWARD OF PUNITIVE DAMAGES.

---

<sup>1</sup> The record has not been paginated by the court clerk so citations to the page in the record is not possible.

Plaintiffs, James and Sherril Fowler, are not entitled to treble damages as they failed to comply with the requirements of Utah Code Ann. § 78-36-8 (1953, as amended).

The issue before this Court is whether a party who has failed to comply with the requirements of Utah's forcible entry and unlawful detainer statute is entitled to an award of treble damages. This Court, in interpreting Utah's forcible entry and detainer statute, has consistently held that the failure of a Plaintiff to comply with the requirements of the statute prohibits the Plaintiff from obtaining treble damages. In Forrester v. Cook, 292 P. 206 (Utah 1930) this Court stated:

The provision for treble damages is highly penal, and therefore, subject to strict construction. (Id at 214)

In this case the Plaintiffs failed to comply with the requirements of Utah Code Ann. § 78-36-8 (1953, as amended) which provides, in pertinent part, as follows:

The Plaintiff in his Complaint, in addition to setting forth the facts on which he seeks to recover, may set forth any circumstances of fraud, force, or violence which may have accompanied the alleged forcible entry, or forcible unlawful detainer, and claim damages therefore or compensation for the occupation of the premises, or both. If the unlawful detainer charged is after default in payment of rent, the Complaint shall state the amount of rent due. The Court shall endorse on the Summons the number of days within which the Defendant is required to appear and defend the action, which shall not be less than three nor more than twenty days from the date of service. The Court may authorize service by publication or mail for cause shown. Service by publication is complete one week after publication. Service by mail is complete three days after mailing. The



Summons shall be changed in form to conform with the time of service as ordered and shall be served as in other cases. (emphasis added)

In this case it is undisputed that the Plaintiff's failed to have the court endorse on the Summons the number of days within which the Defendant was required to appear and defend the action. Further the Summons was not changed to conform to the time of service as ordered by the court.

This Court in the case of Gerard v. Young, 432 P.2d 343 (Utah 1967) dealt with precisely the same issue as is presented in the case at bar. In Gerard, the Plaintiff failed to have the court endorse upon the Summons the number of days within which the Defendant would be required to appear and defend as required by Utah Code Ann. § 78-36-8 (1953, as amended). This Court held that such a failure prevents an award of treble damages. In so ruling, this Court stated as follows:

There are other reasons why the trial court could not grant treble damages. In the first place, for a Plaintiff to bring his cause under the forcible entry and detainer statute, he must have the court endorse upon the Summons the number of days within which the Defendant shall be required to appear and defend the action, which shall not be less than three nor more than twenty days from date of service. (§ 78-36-8 U.C.A. 1953)

The record does not show that the statute was followed in this regard, and if not, then the Plaintiff is in court on a suit to cancel the lease and get actual damages only and can not have the same treble. (Id at 343)

The language of this Court in Gerard indicates that unless the Summons has been endorsed by the court no cause of action under the forcible entry and detainer statute will be

recognized by the court.

**The** position of this Court is that unless the Summons in a forcible entry and detainer case has been endorsed by the court providing the time in which the Defendant must appear and defend that treble damages cannot be awarded was affirmed in the case of Pingree v. Continental Group of Utah, Inc., 558 P.2d 1317 (Utah 1976). In this case, this Court stated as follows:

On March 17, 1975, Defendant was served with Summons and Complaint, for the declaratory Judgment action. The Summons was not in accordance with the mandatory provisions of § 78-36-8, and the Complaint did not include any claim of forfeiture or unlawful detainer. It was not until July 21, 1975, Plaintiff filed an amended Complaint, alleging unlawful detainer.

In Gerard vs. Young this Court held that a Plaintiff, to bring his case under the forcible entry and detainer statute, must comply with the provisions of § 78-36-8. For Plaintiff's failure to comply with this statute, the trial court properly ruled they were not entitled to treble damages. (Pingree, 588 P.2d at 1322) (emphasis added)

This Court went on to hold in Pingree that the Amended Complaint which attempted to state a cause of action for unlawful detainer was only a common law action for ejectment.

It should be noted how close the case at bar procedurally is to Pingree. **The** Plaintiffs/Appellants argue in their brief that contrary to the clear language of this Court in Pingree that the requirements of Utah Code Ann. § 78-36-8 (1953, as amended) are not mandatory. The Plaintiffs/Appellants however, cite no authority for that proposition and merely argue that the purpose of the statute was fulfilled because the

Plaintiffs did not seek a shortening of the normal twenty day period for answering a Summons.

The Plaintiffs/Appellants further argue that when they amended their Complaint to include a cause of action for forcible entry that they were not required to have a second Summons issued. Again the Plaintiffs/Appellants cite no authority and this Court's holding in Pingree is directly to the contrary. In Pingree, as in the case at bar, the claim for forcible entry or unlawful detainer was not stated in an original Complaint but was added in a subsequent Amended Complaint. Notwithstanding that fact, this Court still required that in order to bring an action under the forcible entry and detainer statute that the mandatory provisions of Utah Code Ann. § 78-36-8 (1953, as amended) still apply.

In the case at bar the Plaintiffs/Appellants have failed to have the Summons endorsed by the Court as required by the mandatory provisions of § 78-36-8 U.C.A. This failure absolutely precludes them from obtaining treble damages.

**II. THE FAILURE OF THE PLAINTIFF'S TO HAVE THE SUMMONS ENDORSED AS REQUIRED BY UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-36-8 DOES NOT CONSTITUTE INSUFFICIENCY OF PROCESS AS DEFINED BY RULE 12(b) the UTAH RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE.**

Plaintiffs/Appellants in their brief, claim that their failure to have the Summons endorsed as required by Utah Code Ann. § 78-36-8 (1953, as amended) constitutes insufficiency of process within the meaning of Rule (b)(4) of the Utah Rules of

Civil Procedure. And that having failed to raise the defense of insufficiency of process that defense is waived. Again, the Plaintiffs/Appellants fail to cite any authority for this position. Defendant/Appellee has failed to find any Utah cases which define insufficiency of process as used in Rule 12(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. However, as this Court and the Utah Court of Appeals has noted on many occasions since the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure are patterned after the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure cases interpreting the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure are persuasive. See Seftel v. Capital City Bank, 767 P.2d 941 (Utah, App. 1989).

Federal Courts interpreting Rule 12(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure distinguish between Motions under Rule 12(b)(4) from those under Rule 12(b)(5). An objection under Rule 12(b)(4) concerns the form of the process rather than the manner of service. "Technically, therefore, a Rule 12(b)(4) motion is proper only to challenge noncompliance with the provisions of Rule 4(b) or any applicable provision incorporated by Rule 4(b) that deals specifically with the content of the Summons." 5A Wright and Miller Federal Practice and Procedure 2d § 1353 p. 276.

The fact that insufficiency of process as defined by Rule 12(b) deals with the form of the process was recognized by the United States District Court for the Northern District of Indiana in the case of Heise v. Olympus Optical Company Ltd., 111 F.R.D. 1 (N.D. Ind. 1986) where the United States District Court

stated as follows:

Insufficiency of process. Olympus Optical Company Ltd. raised Rule 12(b) defense of insufficiency of process in its original Motion to Dismiss. The defense of insufficiency of process differs from insufficiency of service of process; the former challenges the content of a Summons; the latter challenges the manner of service Northland Paper Company v. Mohawk Tablet Company, 271 F.Supp. 763 (S.D. N.Y. 1967) (Id at 5)  
Also see Crane v. Battelle, 127 F.R.D. 174 (S.D. Cal. 1989)

The federal cases and treatise's on the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure make it clear that the insufficiency of process contemplated under Rule 12(b)(4) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure contemplates a defect caused by the Summon's failure to comply with the requirements of Rule 4(c) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Under no interpretation of the cases and treatise's interpreting Rule 12(b)(4) can the insufficiency of process be interrupted to include the failure of the Plaintiffs/Appellants to have the Summons endorsed as required by Utah Code Ann. § 78-36-8 (1953, as amended).

**III. SINCE PLAINTIFF'S FAILED TO BRING THEIR CASE UNDER THE FORCIBLE ENTRY AND DETAINER STATUTE KNOW DEFENSE PERTAINING TO THAT STATUTE WAS REQUIRED TO BE RAISED.**

Even if the failure to have the Summons endorsed as to the time in which the Defendant was required to appear and defend as required by Utah Code Ann. § 78-36-8 (1953, as amended) does not constitute insufficiency of process under Rule 12(b)(4) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. The question remains whether

such failure is a defense required to be pled pursuant to Rule 12(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure or is consequently waived pursuant to Rule 12(h) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. This question is admittedly more difficult. However, the position of the Defendant/Appellee is grounded in the language of this Court in the Pingree and Gerard cases.

In Gerard v. Young, specifically held that where the Plaintiffs/Appellants failed to have the Summons endorsed pursuant to the requirements of § 78-36-A that the Plaintiffs/Appellants did not bring his cause of action under the forcible entry and detainer statute.

Similarly, in Pingree v. Continental Group of Utah, Inc., this Court specifically held that the attempt of the Plaintiffs/Appellants to plead an action under the forcible entry and detainer statute in the amended Complaint amounted to nothing more than a common law action for ejectment where the Plaintiffs/Appellants had failed to comply with the mandatory requirements of Utah Code Ann. § 78-36-8 (1953, as amended).

Since the effect of the Plaintiffs/Appellants failure to have the Summons endorsed as required by Utah Code Ann. § 78-36-8 (1953, as amended) was to convert their attempt to plead a cause of action under the forcible entry and detainer statute into a common law action for trespass and for damages that is the cause of action that the Defendants were required to meet and plead their defenses pursuant to Rule 12(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

Finally, it should be noted that the position of the Defendant/Appellee in this case, is even stronger than the position of the Defendant's in Gerard and Pingree. As the Plaintiffs/Appellants states in their brief "in neither of those cases was the issue raised by the parties in either lower court or the Supreme Court of whether or not there must be such an endorsement". In this case the issue of the requirement of an endorsement was raised in the trial court and the Plaintiffs/Appellants were given notice and opportunity to meet the issue. After the jury trial was completed the motion to treble the damages awarded was briefed by both sides. The issue of the failure of the Plaintiffs/Appellants to have the Summons endorsed as required by Utah Code Ann. § 78-36-8 (1953, as amended) was raised and the Plaintiffs/Appellants were given an opportunity to meet that issue.

In interpreting Rule 12(h) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure this Court has consistently held that where the Defendant/Appellee has failed to raise a defense which is required to be pleaded, the defense is waived. However, there are some exceptions. In Olpin v. Grove Finance Company, 521 P.2d 1221 those exceptions were listed by this Court as follows:

It is true, as the Plaintiff contends, that it is an affirmative defense which is required to be pleaded, and unless it is, it ordinarily should not be allowed as a defense, unless there is a motion to amend, or the parties acquiesce in the trial of that issue, or the Plaintiff was otherwise given notice and an opportunity to meet it, . . . (Id at 1223)

There is no argument, let alone a showing in the Plaintiffs/Appellants brief that the Plaintiff was misled or prevented from presenting any of there evidence or in any way prejudiced by the time or manner in which the issue of the failure of the Plaintiffs/Appellants to have the Summons endorsed as required by Utah Code Ann. § 78-36-8 (1953, as amended) was raised and presented to the court. See Taylor v. E.M. Royle Corp., 264 P.2d 279 (Utah 1953).

The Defendant/Appellee having had notice and a full opportunity to meet the issue in the hearings before the trial court and the trial court having decided in the Defendants' favor, this case clearly fits into one of the exceptions to the waiver provisions of Rule 12(h) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure identified in Olpin.